











tHE Webster house,
perched on a

bluff above the St. Croix B
River at Stillwater

For nearly twenty years the Italian style
dominated the architecture of the valley.
Two smaller houses might be mentioned
to show its application to structures far
from palatial in scale. Mortimer Webster,
a Stillwater housebuilder, created a grace-
ful home for himself between 1865 and 1870
at 435 South Broadway. It sports a five
Italian cupola like that of the older Burbank-
Griggs stone mansion on Summit Avenue
in St. Paul, and the buijlder attempted to
achieve something of the same granite
monumentality by cutting the pine siding
to look like stone.® In Lakeland, at the cor-
ner of Minnesota and Commercial streets,
now almost overwhelmed by the embank-
ment of Highway 12, is the smallest of the
St. Croix palazzi, owned by Mr. Charles
Trost. It is probably a little younger than
the Webster house.

While this study concentrates on domestic
architecture, a postscript must be added:
the Italian palazzo style affected more com-

¢ The Burbank-Griggs house was buill by James
C. Burbank in 1865. It is now owned by Mrs. Theo-
dore W. Griggs.
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mercial and official buildings in the valley
than any other. Second Street in Hudson
was rebuilt in a series of arcades after a fire
destroyed most of it in 1866. Only the Wil-
liams Block and a few remmants survive to
suggest its original strength and unity. The

FRONT Of the Trost house in Lakeland
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Staples-Hersey Block, on the main business
street of Stillwater, vaunts a fagade of gran-
deur and finesse matched only by the Wash-
ington County Courthouse on the platean
above. Set in a park amid great trees, the
courthouse was built between 1866 and
1870. Its dome evokes all the cupolas, its
arcades all the rows of rounded arches, and
its brackets all the grandiloquent roof lines
of a confident era.

The last of the Italian styles to reach the
valley was the Tuscan villa. It, too, carried
brackets and featured doors and windows
set in rounded arches, but it took from the
Gothic style a steeply pitched roof, and in-
serted a square tower or “campanile” where
two wings met at right angles. The best
example in the valley is a house derived
from a handbook and built for Captain Aus-
tin T. Jenks in 1871 at Fifth and Pine streets
in Stillwater. Captain Jenks was a colorful
character who owned a fine 110-foot stern-
wheel steamer, the “Brother Jonathan,” and
with it towed log rafts on the St. Croix
and the upper Mississippi. As he progressed
from river pilot to captain to shipowner to
financier, his reputation grew, and his red
brick villa set a fashion for the 1870s.7 The

style was carried to a higher pitch in an-
other brick house with campanile a few
miles west of Stillwater, on Highway 96,
now owned by Mr. George M. Riedesel. The
picturesque villa reached its peak of frenzy
in the 1880s in 2 wooden mansion built for
David C. Fulton at Sixth and Orange streets
in Hudson.

BY THE 1880s two new architectural epi-
demics had passed through the valley. The
first, the octagon style, has left only one resi-
dential example, the Italianate version built
for Judge John S. Moffat in 1855 at Myrtle
and Third streets in Hudson. Others exist in
Red Wing, Winona, Hastings, Clearwater,
and Eyota, and an octagonal bam stands
west of Afton. An octagonal Baptist church
built in Lakeland in 1868 has recently be-
come the town hall. All these buildings pay
tribute to the persuasiveness of Orson Squire
Fowler of Fishkill, New York, the Buck-
minster Fuller of the last century. An apostle
of “scientific principles in architecture,” he
grew rich as a lecturer on phrenology and

" Augustus B. Easton, ed., History of the Saint
Croix Valley, 1:187 (Chicago, 1909).

THE [vory E.
McKusick house
in Stillwater
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then turned his mind to the development of
houses, emphasizing a service core, much
window space, and maximum convenience.®
Although he recommended the use of con-
crete for ease of maintenance, all his St.
Croix devotees employed their customary
white pine.

Fowler’s ideas were too radical and lack-
ing in support from European precedent to
survive in the 1860s and 1870s. They were
submerged by new fashions brought back
from Paris by architects who had studied
at the Ecole des beaux-arts. The French
imperial style, in particular, soon engaged
the enthusiasm of men seeking novelty. The
success of the new wings added to the Lou-
vre and the Hotel de Ville by Napoleon
IIT's architects — especially the acclaim ac-
corded the heavy, high-pitched roofs they
borrowed from the glories of sixteenth-
century French architecture — made a deep
1mprese.10n on visiting Americans. These
“mansard” roofs were employed in St. Paul
soon after the Civil War and became the

* Dictionary of American Biography, 6:565 ( New
York, 1931). For a statement of Fowler’s architec-
tural ideas, see his A Home for All, or the Gravel
Wall and Octagon Mode of Building (New York,
1857).
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last word in elegance. In Stillwater, Ivory E.
McKusick, who had done well on govern-
ment contracts during the war, adopted the
mansard style at its heaviest when in 1866
he built a new house at 504 North Second
Street.

Fortunately for the progress of architec-
ture, there was a lady in the same city whose
sense of humor was equal to mid-nineteenth-
century pomposity. Her husband, Jacob
Bean, had grown rich in the lumber busi-
ness, but he was a busy man and kept defer-
ring the erection of an appropriate palace.
His wife could not wait and built for her
own amusement a cottage which is the
apotheosis of the mansard style. It came to
be known as “Grandma Bean’s playhouse,”
and it now stands at 1224 South Third Street,
where it continues to parody the architec-
tural pretensions of the lesser Napoleon as
Offenbach parodied his politics.

While these exotic fashions ran their
course, the traditions of the eighteenth cen-
tury and New England remained powerful
in the valley. Slmple high, rectangular resi-
dences of white-painted pine (or occasion-
ally, of brick) may have acquired brackets
under extended eaves. But in a haze or at
twilight, those built as late as 1885 look
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much like the town houses of Salem, Kittery,
Portsmouth, or Marblehead. They retain
typical Federal characteristics: low-pitched
hip roofs, an odd number of openings (usu-
ally three windows above, two and a door
below), a fanlight or an arched doorway,
and elegant restraint in trim. A beautiful
late example, built of brick in 1881, is the
home and office of Dr. Henry Van Meier at
226 East Myrtle Street in Stillwater. Other
Stillwater houses with only a slight Italian
accent stand at 122 West Linden (1856), 220

LATE Victorian “campanile” of the Fulton
mansion in Hudson

350

Chestnut (1871), and 107 East Laurel
(1875). Another serene white house of the
same character can be seen in Marine, across
the street from the stone Town House.

BUT a new passion for the exotic and pic-
turesque was well under way by the time
these houses were finished. The style has
been variously described as “carpenter’s
frenzy,” Queen Anne, Eastlake, Neo-Jacobe-
an, or, resignedly, as “Victorian.” Each of
these titles may have some application to
particular details or fleeting phases, but no
one of them is adequate to cover the whole
exuberant period. Perhaps it is best called
the “Nonsuch style,” after Henry VIII's Non-
such Palace in Surrey, which displayed all
the elements of the transition from medieval
to Renaissance style: pavilions, pennons,
bulbs, variegated windows, projections, tur-
rets, bays, and decorated surfaces of wood,
plaster, and stone—in general, cheerful
disorder. There are good examples in all the
larger St. Croix Valley towns. The Fulton
mansion in Hudson has already been men-
tioned. While created from a basically Ital-
ian design, it partakes fully of the Nonsuch
spirit. Also in Hudson is the home of Miss
Helene Denniston at 405 Locust Street, built
by Dr. Samuel Johnson in the late 1880s. It
adds to a tossed salad of detail a West In-
dian veranda with a gazebo at the end. The
great red Albert J. Lammers mansion at
Marsh and Third streets in Stillwater com-
bines the usual Nonsuch elements and adds
superb woodworking on its proud gables.
Scandinavian carpenters did much of this
work in the 1880s, and it may be to one of
these that the roof line owes its Viking orna-
ments, The Lammers house is worth careful
study for the richness and originality of its
detail, as is a smaller structure, which begar:
in 1864 as a Gothic cottage built for pioneer
surveyor Royal C. Gray, in Taylors Falls.
Later owners during the Nonsuch period ex-
ploded the house into projections, bays, and
extravagances. Now owned by Mr. Leland
R. Tangen, it stands at Government Road
and Plateau Street,
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THE Lammers
house in
Stillwater

In the St. Croix Valley the Nonsuch style
was a celebration by lumbermen of the
structural and decorative value of white
pine. One cannot find there the round stone
towers bearing battlements or conical caps
characteristic of the Romanesque revival,
which elsewhere competed with the Non-
such. This was essentially a masonry style,
and the St. Croix County Courthouse in
Hudson built in 1902 is its only major exam-
ple in the area. Men who had grown wealthy
by cutting and marketing lumber still pre-
ferred to use it, however great their wealth.
This combination of theme and material
found the peak of its expression in 1902
when William Sauntry, a colorful Stillwater
lumber operator who had a brief success in
iron ore speculation, built a Moorish recrea-
tion hall behind his Nonsuch mansion at
Maple and Hickory streets. It flaunted the
uses of painted wood: its interior had a vast
dance floor, wildly Alhambran in decor, like
a motion picture set for Rudolph Valentino.
This was flanked by a bowling alley and a
swimming pool. Even in its present state,
domesticated into apartments, it has a gaudy
grandeur.

°Hepry Van Brunt, one of the creators of the
style, quoted in Christopher Tunnard and Henry
Hope Reed, The American Skyline, 143 (New York,
1953).
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By the time this house was built a new
spirit of caution was entering the valley; the
raw, confident frontier era was over. After
1895, the peak year for lumber production
on the St. Croix, the great pinelands were
soon logged out. The decline of lumbering
coincided with the arrival of a new fashion
for the classic in architecture. “A uniform
and ceremonious style . . . [not] medieval
or any other form of romantic, archeological
or picturesque art” had been set as an ideal
by the developers of the Chicago Columbian
Exposition of 1893.> America’s most respect-
able architects created there a dazzling
Xanadu of enormous white pillars and porti-
coes and shimmering lagoons surrounding
titanic statuary. Formal Roman grandeur
was reinstated as the model for architecture.
Gentlemen and ladies returning from Chj-
cago abandoned the careless freedom of the
Nonsuch era, and for twenty years they
asked their architects for large white struc-
tures employing magnified classic motifs.
This mode of building bore the same resem-
blance to the classic as Hellenistic art does
to the Hellenic: it might be called “classis-
tic.” It produced comfortable and cheerful
interior space, and at its best, it could be
impressive. A good example is the James D.
Bronson house built in 1905 at 1309 South
Third Street in Stillwater, and now owned
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by Mr. James J. Brooksbank. The effect of
the Columbian Exposition can be seen by
comparing the Bronson residence with the
Lammers’ house across the street — and the
effect of a half century of prosperity by set-
ting beside them the little classic house a
few blocks away at 610 South Broadway.

The classistic style inaugurated a period
of arid convention in American architecture,
broken only occasionally by the rebels who
were scornfully labeled “picturesque seces-
sionists.” Whimsey was still alive in the St.
Croix Valley, when “Helvetia,” a carved
wooden cottage in the Tyrolean style, with
a tree growing through the roof, was built
by Mr. Glen E. Millard in Franconia, and
when Mr. Leo Capser assembled his stone
“Villa St. Croix” from exotic components a
few miles north of Prescott. The playful tra-
dition initiated by “Crandma” Bean and
carried forward by William Sauntry was
recently continued in a family-sized tree
house designed for Dr. John B. Coleman by
St. Paul architect W. Brooks Cavin.

But many years passed before serious
architectural creation of a high order re-
turned to the valley. Five miles west of
Stillwater is a house designed by Frank
Lloyd Wright in 1955 for Mr. Donald Lov-
ness. Like the limestone structures built on
the prairie a century earlier, its walls seem
to be outcrops of the hillside. But respect
for “natural materials” did not preclude
their being shaped and sculptured. Wright
designed for the Lovness house woodcarv-

ing in the same tradition as that of the
Lammers house two generations earlier. Al-
though it is more subtle, it proclaims the
same joy in the potentialities of wood.

The concept of the Lovness house goes
much further back, to an idea shared by
John Mower and William Folsom: it is as
concemed with its scene as with its setting,
as interested in what it sees as how it ap-
pears. It looks out, as did the Mower, Fol-
som, and Proctor houses, at the spacious and
varied landscape of the valley. Where the
earlier builders had placed broad porches
facing the river, Wright used wide expanses
of glass, but the purpose is the same. For
two generations houses had turmed their
backs to the river, and their builders, taking
designs from books, had been indifferent to
the relationship of structure and scene. But
in recent years the valley has once again
attracted talent adequate to its settings. One
of the finest of the new houses was designed
by Michael J. McGuire and built on High-
way 35 south of Houlton for Mr. A. L. War-
ren. “A”-shaped rafters frame the view down
the river, and carefully laid native stone
walls around the entrance and enclosing the
lower floor create a sense of shelter. It is
both a retreat and an affirmation of the
natural beauty of a scene worthy of the best
that architecture can do.

ALL PHOTOGRAPHS except the one on page 349
are by John M. Andersen. The picture of the Wash-
ington County Courthouse was taken by Eugene D.
Becker.

THE Lovness house near Stillwater, designed in 1955 by Frank Lloyd Wright
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